CHAPTER 69O-142

INSURER CONDUCT

69O-142.002
Insurer Complaint Ratios

69O-142.011
Insurer Conduct Penalty Guidelines
69O-142.012
NAIC Market Regulation Handbook Adopted
69O-142.015
Standardized Requirements Applicable to Insurers After Hurricanes or Natural Disasters

69O-142.200
Military Sales Practices

69O-142.002 Insurer Complaint Ratios.

(1) This rule implements the publication requirements of Section 624.313, F.S., which requires the Office to publish complaint ratios for the 10 largest insurers or insurer groups by line of insurance and each insurer or insurer group that has 1 percent or more of a line of insurance in this state. This rule does not apply to private passenger automobile insurance coverages. This rule also identifies the procedures by which insurer complaint ratios, herein referred to as complaint indexes, are calculated. Insurer Complaint indexes can be used by the Office to identify insurers with questionable claims handling practices and allow the Office to take appropriate regulatory action to avoid an interruption in services to the insurance consumer. The insurance consumer will be able to compare insurers by line of insurance to assist in the purchase of insurance.

(2) Definitions. The following words and phrases, when used in this rule shall have the following meanings, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

(a) “Bureau” means the Bureau of Consumer Assistance, a bureau within the Division of Insurance Consumer Services.

(b) “Complaint” for purposes of the complaint index, means any written communication, by an insured or named beneficiary, primarily expressing a grievance or dissatisfaction over which the Office has regulatory authority. Complaints which will not be used to calculate the complaint index include complaints against an incorrect entity; complaints against companies providing administrative services for self-funded benefit plans; complaints regarding properly filed or approved rates; suspected fraudulent claim complaints; and complaints which are duplicative, harassing or frivolous.

(c) “Complaint Index” means an index derived by dividing the complaint share by the market share for a specific insurer by line of insurance.

(d) “Complaint Share” means the percentage of complaints received by the Office relevant to an insurer for any given line of insurance when compared to the total complaints received by the Office for that line of insurance.

(e) “Office” means the Office of Insurance Regulation.

(f) “Direct Written Premium” means a consideration paid, or to be paid, to the insurer for the issuance and delivery of any binder or policy of insurance or annuity written directly to the consumer.

(g) “Division” means the Division of Insurance Consumer Services, a division within the Department of Financial Services.

(h) “Insurer” includes every individual, company, association, organization, partnership, syndicate, business trust, corporation or legal entity engaged as indemnitor, surety or contractor, holding a certificate of authority issued by the Office, which is authorized to enter into contracts of insurance or annuity.

(i) “Line of Insurance” means the subclassifications of kinds of insurance which are required to be annually reported on the standardized Annual Statement adopted by the Office.

(j) “Market Share” means the percentage of the direct written premiums when compared to the total direct written premiums in the State of Florida for a given line of insurance.

(3) Computing the Complaint Index.

(a) All direct written premiums for the reporting period will be compared to determine the market share of insurance business for each insurer by line of insurance.

(b) Insurer complaint information for the reporting period will be obtained from the Division for all insurers.

1. Complaint information will be subdivided by line of insurance for each insurer.

2. The complaint share will be determined for each insurer by line of insurance based on complaints received by the Office.

(c) An insurer complaint index, for each insurer, will be calculated by dividing the complaint share by line of insurance by the market share of direct written premium for that line of insurance.

1. A complaint index of 1.00 will indicate that the insurer has received a proportionate number of complaints as compared to the market share of direct written premium for a particular line of insurance.

2. A complaint index of less than 1.00 will indicate that the insurer has a complaint share that is less than their market share of direct written premium for that particular line of insurance.

3. A complaint index of more than 1.00 will indicate that the insurer has a complaint share that is more than their market share of direct written premium for that line of insurance.

(4) Complaint Indexes. Complaint indexes by line of insurance will be published by the Office annually as required by Section 624.313, F.S., and may be published at such other times as the Office deems appropriate. The Office shall make available to insurers, upon written request, a copy of the index prior to publication. If the insurer disagrees with the index, the insurer shall provide the Office with written supporting documentation within 15 days of receipt of the index.

Rulemaking Authority 624.308 FS. Law Implemented 624.307(1), 624.313, 624.4241 FS. History–New 8-3-93, Formerly 4-142.002.

69O-142.011 Insurer Conduct Penalty Guidelines.

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this rule is to establish uniform guidelines for the assessment of administrative fines imposed upon entities, concerning certain violations of the Florida Insurance Code and applicable Office Rules.

(2) Scope.

(a) This rule applies to all entities issuing life, health, property, casualty, liability, surety, marine, mortgage guaranty, or title insurance. This rule shall apply to all such entities regardless of whether they are organized as a stock company, mutual, assessable mutual, reciprocal, fraternal benefit society, risk retention group, self-insurance fund, or other legal form. This rule applies to all violations discovered or investigated through financial examinations, market conduct examinations, or office investigations. This rule shall not be construed as creating any substantive violations not otherwise proscribed by statute or rule.

(b) Specialty Insurers Excluded. This rule does not apply to entities issuing only one or several of the following products:

1. Warranties under Chapter 634, F.S.

2. Professional service plans under Chapter 637, F.S.

3. Ambulance service contracts under Chapter 638, F.S.

4. Legal expense insurance under Chapter 642, F.S.

5. Continuing care contracts under Chapter 651, F.S.

6. Bail bonds under Chapter 648, F.S.

7. Health care service programs under Chapter 641, F.S., (including HMOs and Prepaid Health Clinics).

(c) Certain Chapter 626, F.S., Licensees Excluded. This rule does not apply to any licensees under Chapter 626, F.S., other than general agents, third party administrators, and service companies.

(d) Late filing penalties. Penalties for late filing of routine financial reports is dealt with by separate rule.

(3) Definitions. The following terms have the following meanings for purposes of this rule.

(a) “Action” means an event or events leading to the commission of a violation.

(b) “Office” means the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation.

(c) “Office Rules” means any and all valid rules adopted by the Financial Services Commission which apply to insurers or other entities within the jurisdiction of the Office.

(d) “Florida Insurance Code” means Chapters 440, 624 through 632, 634, 635, 637, 638, 641, 642, 648, 651, 817, F.S.

(e) “Repeat Violations” means a second or subsequent offense of any given violation subject to a fine under this rule for which an insurer has been assessed an administrative fine or has received written notification of the violation from the Office in either of the two immediately preceding financial or market conduct examinations or as a result of a Office investigation conducted within the immediately preceding six years.

(f) “Violation” means any non-compliance with the Florida Insurance Code or any applicable Office Rules or Orders.

(g) “Knowing and willful:”

1. With respect to any act or omission which constitutes a violation of Part I of Chapter 627, F.S., the insurer must violate the standard established in the definition of “willful” set forth in Section 627.041(7), F.S., in order for a penalty to be assessed as “willful” under this rule.

2. With respect to all other violations of the Florida Insurance Code, as used in Section 624.4211, F.S., and for purposes of the assessment of administrative fines under this rule, and taking into account the requirements of Section 624.11, F.S., the term “knowing and willful” means any act of commission or omission which is committed intentionally as opposed to accidentally and which is committed with knowledge of the act’s unlawfulness or with reckless disregard as to the unlawfulness of the act.

(h) “Investigation” means any official Office review, analysis, inquiry, and/or research into referrals, complaints, or inquiries to determine the existence of violations.

(i) “Numerator” means the number of violations of a specific statute for a particular line of business.

(j) “Denominator” means the number of occurrences examined to determine compliance with a specific statute.

(k) “Error ratio” means the percentage computed when the numerator is divided by the denominator, rounded up to the nearest hundredth.

(l) “Permissible error ratio” means the permissible percentage of violations to occurrences examined to determine compliance as established in paragraph (4)(g), below.

(4) General Provisions.

(a) Rule Not All-Inclusive. This rule contains illustrative violations. This rule does not, and is not intended to, encompass all possible violations of statute or Office rule that might be committed by insurers. The absence of any violation from this rule shall in no way be construed to indicate that same is not subject to penalty. In any instance wherein the violation is not listed in this rule, then the penalty shall be determined by consideration of:

1. The penalty factors specified in this rule; and,
2. Any closely analogous violation that is listed in this rule.

(b) Rule and Statutory Violations Included. This rule applies whether the violation is of a statutory provision, of a Office rule, or of an order implementing a statutory provision.

(c) Rule Establishes Norms. The penalty guidelines specified in this rule are the appropriate final penalty only in those cases which are resolved through the execution of a settlement stipulation and the incorporation of that settlement stipulation in a final order. This rule and any precedents developed under it do not apply to any case in which an entity disputes the existence of a violation by using a proceeding under Section 120.57, F.S. The penalty guidelines assume the typical mix of aggravating and mitigating factors found in actual practice in typical cases, in the Office experience. However, these guidelines shall not supersede the Office authority to suspend or revoke an entity’s certificate of authority or to require specific corrective action in cases in which the imposition of administrative penalties is not appropriate. For example, notwithstanding the specification of relatively smaller fines for particular violations, the Office will not impose such fines but will instead initiate action to suspend or revoke a certificate of authority as a result of such violations where significant aggravating factors are present, as enumerated in subsection (5), below. Any action taken by the Office which results in the imposition of fines under this rule or which may result in the suspension or revocation of a certificate of authority shall be conducted pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 120, F.S. The Office shall reduce the amount of a penalty which would otherwise be imposed pursuant to this rule if the payment of such a penalty would reduce surplus to an extent which the Office determines, based on the particular circumstances of the entity involved, would jeopardize the financial condition of the insurer to such an extent that the provisions of Part VI of Chapter 624, F.S., relating to administrative supervision or of Chapter 631, F.S., relating to rehabilitation and liquidation, would have to be invoked. This determination is not subject to the hearing rights provided for in Chapter 120, F.S.

(d) Description of Violations. Although the violations in subsections (8) through (11), below, include specific references to statutes and/or rules, the violations are described in general language because in many cases several statutes or rules are involved. The use of general language shall not be construed to expand or modify the statute. Violations are not necessarily described herein using the language that would be used to formally allege the violation in a specific case. In some instances a basic generic violation is described herein (e.g., misleading advertising), but there also appear one or more specific variations of that same general violation, with different penalties specified, where the Office has determined that different treatment is needed or merited (e.g., misleading advertising in medicare supplement insurance). If any statutory or rule citations in subsections (8) through (11), are changed but the violation remains the same and the tracking tables in the Florida Statutes or the history notes in the Florida Administrative Code indicate the new statutory or rule citation, then the use of the previous statutory or rule citation will not invalidate this rule.

(e) Relationship to Other Rules. The provisions of this rule shall be subordinated in the event that any other rule more specifically addresses a particular violation or violations in particular lines of insurance.

(f) Other Licensees. The imposition of a penalty upon any insurer in accordance with this rule shall in no way be interpreted as barring the imposition of a penalty upon any agent, adjuster, or other licensee in connection with the same conduct.

(g) Permissible Error Ratios.

1. Claims Violations. Subject to subparagraphs 3. and 4. of this paragraph, a permissible error ratio of seven percent (7%) is established for claims violations. This permissible error ratio is applicable to all nonwillful claims violations as set forth in the individual penalty categories in this rule. For those claims violations subject to the permissible error ratio, if the error ratio for a nonwillful violation of a specific statute or rule for a particular line of business does not exceed the permissible error ratio of 7%, no penalty shall be assessed for the noted claims violations of such statute or rule for that line of business. If the error ratio for a specific statute or rule for a particular line of business exceeds the permissible error ratio of 7%, a penalty shall be assessed for those violations which exceed the error ratio.

2. Other Violations. Subject to subparagraphs (4)(g)3. and 4. of this paragraph, a permissible error ratio of ten percent (10%) is established for all nonwillful violations other than claims violations. This permissible error ratio is applicable to all nonwillful violations other than claims violations as set forth in the individual penalty categories in this rule. For those other violations subject to the permissible error ratio, if the error ratio for a nonwillful violation of a specific statute or rule for a particular line of business does not exceed the permissible error ratio of 10%, no penalty shall be assessed for the noted other violations of such statute for that line of business. If the error ratio for a specific statute or rule for a particular line of business does exceed the permissible error ratio of 10%, a penalty shall be assessed for those violations which exceed the error ratio.

3. Whether the error ratio for any violation(s) is less than, equal to, or exceeds the permissible error ratio does not preclude the Office from requiring corrective action(s).

4. For those violations subject to an error ratio, the Office will increase the sample size used to determine the error ratio if it receives a written request from the insurer or other entity to do so. The sample size will be increased by up to, but no more than, 200 files.

(h) Investigations. Any violation(s) found as a result of a Office investigation shall not be subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule. The Office experience over the years has been that error ratios are not appropriately applied to the majority of investigations conducted by the Office because of the nature and scope of investigations and because of the type of business being investigated. However, if the allegations being investigated are ones which lend themselves to the application of error ratios, the Office shall, if the particular circumstances relating to the alleged violations reasonably require further investigation in the context of an examination, convert the investigation into a target examination, at which point error ratios will be applied to the results of the examination.

(5) Penalty Factors. The following factors are considered in determining penalties for violations not listed in this rule, and, as to listed violations, the placement of the penalty within the range specified. The factors are not necessarily listed in order of importance.

(a) Willfulness and knowledge of the violation.

(b) Actual harm or damage to any insured, claimant, applicant, or other person or entity caused directly or indirectly by the violation, as determined by the Office financial examination, market conduct examination, or Office investigation.

(c) Degree of potential harm to which any insured or claimant was exposed by the violation, as determined by the Office financial examination, market conduct examination, or Office investigation.

(d) Degree to which the violation, if not detected, tends to undermine the regulatory process or regulatory system or the integrity of regulatory reports.

(e) Whether the entity reasonably should have known of the act’s unlawfulness.

(f) Corrective activities which are substantially initiated only after the violation or possibility of violation is formally or informally noted or brought to the attention of the entity by the Office. The Office will not assess a penalty for violations for which successful corrective activities were actually and substantially initiated (not just planned) and implemented by the insurer before the violation was noted by or brought to the attention of the Office, and before the insurer was made aware that the Office was investigating the alleged violation. Insurers shall take note of the requirements of Section 624.4211(2), F.S., regarding restitution. It has been the Office experience that corrective activities have included remedial procedures put in place to assure that the violation does not recur; adverse personnel activities taken when appropriate; and making any injured party whole as to harm suffered in relation to the violation. The entity’s corrective activities may include other measures as the entity deems appropriate.

(g) Financial gain or loss to the insurer from the violation.

(h) Degree of cooperation of the insurer with the Office in remedying the violation including any restitution provided to affected consumers.

(i) Previous fines or suspensions imposed by the Office against the insurer.

(j) Whether the violation is a repeat violation.

(k) The extent to which any applicable permissible error ratio is exceeded.

(6) Multiple Violations.

(a) For those violations not subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule, each factually separate occurrence is a separate violation for purposes of this rule and application of the penalties, and penalties for such separate violations are cumulative, to the extent provided in Section 624.4211, F.S., notwithstanding that the violations are of the same statutory or rule provision.

(b) For those violations subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule that comprise the numerator when divided by the denominator exceed the permissible error ratio established by this rule, each such violation is a separate violation for purposes of this rule and for the application of the penalties set forth in this rule to the extent provided in Section 624.4211, F.S., notwithstanding that the violations are of the same statutory or rule provision.

(7) Penalty Categories and Fines Assessed. Violations are divided into four categories. Category I violations are the most serious and category IV violations are the least serious. The Office will use the factors in subsection (5), above, to determine, within the penalty ranges specified below, the fine for each violation within a category. The penalty amount does not include any investigative or legal costs that are assessed in addition to the fine.

(8) Category I. If the violation is knowing and willful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $12,000 to $20,000. If the violation is nonwillful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $1,000 to $2,500 per violation. Violations listed in this category are exempt from the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule.

(a) Violation of any lawful order of the Office, pursuant to Section 624.418(2)(a), F.S.

(b) Failure to take corrective activities or other measures as agreed to by the insurer in writing to the Office, pursuant to Section 624.418(2)(a), F.S.

(c) Failure to take effective corrective activities or other measures on a formal written criticism made by the Office in a previous exam report, after that report becomes final, pursuant to Sections 624.316 and 624.3161, F.S.

(d) Failure of insurer or any of its officers to properly respond to or cooperate with the Office in reporting, or providing information to the Office, or producing or making reasonably available, any of its accounts, records, or files, as requested by the Office, pursuant to Sections 624.318 and 624.418(2)(b), F.S.

(e) Use of an unlicensed managing general agent or third party administrator, pursuant to Sections 626.091(3), 626.112, and 626.901, F.S.

(f) Assisting in or facilitating insurance agency activities in prohibited association with a financial institution, pursuant to Section 626.988, F.S., and rule Chapter 69O-223, F.A.C.
(g) Filing or causing to be filed any materially incorrect financial report with the Office, pursuant to Section 624.424(1), F.S.

(h) Writing any line of insurance other than those authorized by the certificate of authority, pursuant to Section 624.401(2), F.S.

(i) Violation of an emergency rule, pursuant to Section 624.418(2), F.S.

(j) Improperly assisting an unlicensed insurer, pursuant to Section 626.901, F.S.

(k) Violation of Medicare Supplement and Long-Term Care standards for marketing and provisions relating to excessive duplicative insurance, pursuant to Sections 627.6741, 627.6743, 627.6744 and 627.9407, F.S., and Chapters 69O-156 and 69O-157, F.A.C.
(l) Violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act, pursuant to Part IX, Section 626.9541, F.S.

(m) Violation of long-term care disclosure advertising, and/or performance standards, pursuant to Section 627.9407, F.S., and rule Chapter 69O-157, F.A.C.
(n) Failure to maintain records, pursuant to Sections 624.318, 626.561, and 626.875, F.S.

(o) Failure to file advertising as required, pursuant to Chapters 69O-150, 69O-156 and 69O-157, F.A.C.
(p) Failure to timely refund unearned premium, pursuant to sections 627.4133, 627.6043, 627.6741, 627.728, 627.7282, and 627.7283, F.S., and Rules 69O-167.001 and 69O-167.002, F.A.C.
(q) Use of unfiled rates or forms, pursuant to Sections 627.062, 627.0645, 627.0651, 627.091, 627.191, and 627.410, F.S., and Chapter 69O-149, F.A.C.

(r) Use of unfiled rate manuals, underwriting guidelines, or other required filings, pursuant to Sections 627.062, 627.0651, 627.091, 627.410(6), 627.640, 627.6745, and 627.6785, F.S., and Parts I and III of Chapter 69O-149; part I of Chapter 69O-156; Rule 69O-157.022; Chapter 69O-170; and Rule 69O-175.004, F.A.C.
(s) Failure to provide 15-day advance notice of premium increase when automatic bank withdrawal arrangement is in force, pursuant to Section 627.0665, F.S.

(t) Failure to allow Free-Look period, pursuant to Sections 626.99(4)(a) and 627.674(3)(d), F.S. and Rules 69O-154.003 and 69O-157.018, F.A.C.
(u) Failure to comply with replacement requirements, pursuant to Chapters 69O-151, 69O-156 and 69O-157, F.A.C.
(v) Failure to notify Office of withdrawal from line of business, pursuant to Section 624.430, F.S.

(w) Failure to maintain company records and assets in the State of Florida, pursuant to Sections 628.271 and 624.443, F.S.

(x) Failure to establish or comply with reserve requirements, pursuant to Sections 625.041, 625.051, 625.061, 625.071, 625.081, 625.091, 625.111, 625.121 and 625.131, F.S.

(y) Investments in ineligible investments, pursuant to Section 625.302, F.S.

(z) Failure to comply with limits on investments without a special consent from the Office pursuant to Sections 625.305, 625.306, 625.307, 625.308, 625.309, 625.310, 625.311, 625.312, 625.313, 625.314, 625.315, 625.316, 625.317, 625.318, 625.319, 625.320, 625.321, 625.322, 625.323, 625.324, 625.325, 625.3255, 625.326, 625.3262, 625.327, and 625.329, F.S.

(aa) Making prohibited investments as defined in Section 625.332, F.S.

(bb) Violation of the restrictions on maximum annual premiums writing, pursuant to Section 624.4095, F.S.

(cc) Improper allocation of any item on the balance sheet having a material effect on the balance sheet, pursuant to Rule 69O-137.001, F.A.C.
(dd) Failure to obtain approval for converting company from a stock company to a mutual company, merging or selling, or acquiring a controlling interest, pursuant to Sections 628.441, 628.451, 628.461, 628.471, 628.481 and 624.491, F.S.

(ee) Failure to file and acquire approval to pay commissions to persons with effective control, pursuant to Section 628.255, F.S.

(ff) Violation of the Small Employer Health Care Access Act, pursuant to Section 627.6699, F.S., and Part III of Chapter 69O-149, F.A.C.
(gg) Violation of requirements regarding excluded assets in determination of the financial condition of an insurer, pursuant to Section 625.031, F.S.

(hh) Failure to document subjective modifications, pursuant to Section 627.062, F.S., and Rules 69O-170.004 and 69O-170.013, F.A.C.
(9) Category II. If the violation is knowing and willful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $2,500 to $10,000. If the violation is nonwillful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $750 to $2,000 per violation.

(a) Those nonwillful violations subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule include:

1. Failure to properly supervise company adjuster, pursuant to Section 626.878, F.S., and paragraph 69O-220.201(4)(g), F.A.C.
2. Advertisement of the existence of the Guaranty Fund(s) as an inducement to sell, pursuant to Sections 631.65 and 631.735, F.S.

3. Cancellation or nonrenewal of policy for unapproved reasons, pursuant to Sections 627.4133, 627.728, 627.7282, F.S.

4. Failure to make payment of loss within 20 days of settlement, pursuant to Section 627.4265, F.S.

5. Failure to pay a claim and any interest when due, pursuant to Sections 627.4265 and 627.613, F.S.

6. Failure to provide outline of coverage, pursuant to Sections 627.4143, 627.642 and 627.9407(10), F.S.

7. Failure to include the fraud statement, pursuant to Section 817.234(1)(b), F.S.

8. Failure to pay interest on cash surrender of life or annuity policy after 30 days, pursuant to Section 627.482, F.S.

9. Failure to provide required minimum cancellation, nonrenewal or change in rates notice, pursuant to Sections 627.4133, 627.6043, 627.6645 and 627.7281, F.S.

(b) Those violations, willful or nonwillful, not subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule include:

1. Furnishing supplies to unlicensed agents, pursuant to Section 626.342, F.S.

2. Failure to show insurer’s name on application, pursuant to Section 627.4085, F.S.

3. Use of unlicensed adjuster, agent, or representative, pursuant to Section 626.112, F.S.

4. Failure to make delivery of policy, pursuant to Section 627.421(1), F.S.

5. Failure to provide extension of benefits, pursuant to Section 627.667, F.S.

6. Failure to provide conversion policy, pursuant to Sections 627.646 and 627.6675, F.S.

7. Failure to file Certificate of Compliance for Advertising, pursuant to subsections 69O-150.018(2), 69O-150.119(2) and 69O-156.120(2), F.A.C.
8. Failure to maintain claims office in the state for school accident insurance, pursuant to Section 627.661, F.S.

9. Failure to affix out of state group stamp, pursuant to Sections 627.5515 and 627.6515, F.S.

10. Filing financial statements with the Office prepared in a manner inconsistent with NAIC Accounting Practices and Procedures, as required by Rule 69O-137.001, F.A.C.
11. Violation of admitted asset requirements, pursuant to Section 625.012, F.S.

12. Failure to correctly value bonds or other evidences of debt having a fixed term and rate of interest, pursuant to section 625.141, F.S.

13. Failure to correctly value securities (other than bonds), pursuant to Section 625.151, F.S.

14. Failure to correctly value real and personal property, pursuant to Section 625.161, F.S.

15. Failure to correctly value purchase money mortgages on real property, pursuant to Section 625.171, F.S.

16. Failure to comply with the retention of risk on any one subject of risk, pursuant to Section 624.609, F.S.

(10) Category III. If the violation is knowing and willful, the fine assessed per violation will range form $1,500 to $2,500. If the violation is nonwillful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $500 to $1,000 per violation.

(a) Those nonwillful violations subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule include:

1. Use of an agent who is licensed but not properly licensed for the product sold, pursuant to Section 626.112, F.S.

2. Failure to meet continuing education requirements for agents appointed by the company, pursuant to Section 626.2815, F.S.

3. Acceptance of business by an insurer from an agent not properly appointed pursuant to Section 624.425, F.S.

4. Failure to adjust a claim in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract, pursuant to Section 626.877, F.S.

5. Failure to adjust claims including partial losses in accordance with the valued policy law and to provide a statement by the insurer limiting the amount of the recovery, pursuant to Section 627.702, F.S.

6. Failure to properly handle claims per certification from the Department of Labor and Employment Security, pursuant to Section 440.20(16)(a), F.S.

7. Failure to respond to claimant’s attorney within 30 days, pursuant to Section 627.7264, F.S.

(b) Those violations, willful and nonwillful, not subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule include:

1. Failure to register or appoint agent, pursuant to Section 626.112, F.S.

2. Failure to request additional appointments for life and health agents when placing business with another insurer and receipt of commissions prior to receipt of appointment by the Office, pursuant to Section 626.341, F.S.

3. Refusal to write worker’s compensation based on premium volume, pursuant to Section 627.1615, F.S.

4. Failure to file experience reports for health insurance, pursuant to Section 627.9175(2)(a), F.S.

5. Failure to state the source of statistics used in an advertisement, pursuant to Chapter 69O-150, F.A.C.
6. Failure of a solicitation of coverage to be from and contain the name of a Florida licensed agent, pursuant to Chapter 69O-150, F.A.C.
7. Use of a commercial rating system in an advertisement without the required disclosure as to the extent of such rating, and the scope and limitation of such rating, pursuant to Chapters 69O-150 and 69O-156, F.A.C.
8. Failure to notify the Office of terminating the appointment of an agent, pursuant to Section 626.511, F.S.

9. Failure to dispose of ineligible property and securities not in compliance within the time frame provided by Section 625.338, F.S.

10. Non-compliance with Section 624.45, F.S., concerning financial institutions’ participation in reinsurance or insurance exchanges.

11. Failure to comply with Section 624.610, F.S., concerning reinsurance.

12. Making investments other than a policy loan or annuity contract loan of a life insurer without being authorized or approved by the insurer’s board of directors or by a committee authorized by such boards or in any other manner not in compliance with Section 625.304, F.S.

13. Failure to notify the Office of any change in directors or principal officers, pursuant to Section 628.261, F.S.

14. Failure to provide personal injury coverage, or to pay personal injury protection claims, pursuant to Section 627.736, F.S.

15. Failure to honor personal injury protection requirements of claims mediation, pursuant to Section 627.745, F.S., and Rule 69O-176.022, F.A.C.
16. Failure to comply with provisions of Chapter 440, F.S., pursuant to Section 440.52(3), F.S.

(11) Category IV. If the violation is knowing and willful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $1,000 to $1,500. If the violation is nonwillful, the fine assessed per violation will range from $100 to $500 per violation.

(a) Those nonwillful violations subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule include:

1. Failure to notify applicant of Florida Joint Underwriting Association availability for private passenger auto coverages, pursuant to Section 627.728(6), F.S.

2. Failure to provide $10,000 property damage liability or $30,000 combined bodily injury liability and property damage liability with each personal injury protection policy, pursuant to Section 627.7275, F.S., and Rule 69O-175.004, F.A.C. (Note that the property damage liability requirement is effective for policies issued on and after 10/1/89.)

3. Insufficient timing of binder cancellation, pursuant to Section 627.420, F.S.

4. Failure to provide specific reasons including underwriting reasons either on denial of an application, or to accompany each notice of nonrenewal and cancellation, pursuant to Sections 627.4091 and 627.4133, F.S.

5. Failure to attach mandatory forms to policy, pursuant to Section 627.412, F.S.

6. Failure to provide premium installment plans for workers’ compensation policies with over $1,000 in annual premium, pursuant to Section 627.162, F.S.

7. Failure to adhere to filed underwriting rules for private passenger auto and homeowners’ coverages, pursuant to Sections 627.062 and 627.0651, F.S., and Rules 69O-170.013, 69O-170.014 and 69O-175.003, F.A.C.
8. Error in workers’ compensation statistical data reported by insurer, pursuant to Section 627.331, F.S.

9. Failure to use acceptable workers’ compensation application form, as required by Section 440.381, F.S., and Rule 69O-189.003, F.A.C.
10. Failure to properly forward auto titles to Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, pursuant to section 319.30, F.S.

11. Violations of countersignature provisions, pursuant to Section 624.425, F.S.

12. Improper application of safe driver points to comprehensive coverage, pursuant to Section 627.0652, F.S.

13. Failure to make available risk management guidelines, pursuant to Section 627.0625, F.S.

14. Failure to provide rules for and apply credit for completion of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles approved accident prevention course by persons 55 or older, pursuant to Section 627.0652, F.S.

15. Failure of insurer to provide premium credits; on Liability, PIP and Collision for Anti-lock brakes; on PIP and Med Pay for Air Bags; on Comprehensive Coverage for Anti-Theft Devices for private passenger autos as approved by the Office, pursuant to Section 627.0653, F.S.

16. Failure to list forms and edition dates on declaration, pursuant to Section 627.413(1)(g), F.S.

17. Failure to display rates for auditable exposures, pursuant to Section 627.413(2), F.S.

18. Failure to show coinsurance statement on property insurance policy subject to coinsurance provisions, pursuant to Section 627.701, F.S.

19. Regarding uninsured motorist coverages, providing uninsured motorist at lesser limit than bodily injury without signed election form; or failure to annually notify insureds of uninsured motorist option and to document offers; or failure to make election part of application; or providing uninsured motorists coverage that differs from that selected by insured; or failure to document uninsured motorist’s elections; or failure to offer uninsured motorists coverage, pursuant to Section 627.727, F.S.

20. Issuing a personal injury protection and property damage liability auto policy for less than 6 months except as permitted by Section 627.7295, F.S., or violation of 2-month cancellation restriction and policy free provision or charging an unfiled policy fee, pursuant to Section 627.7295, F.S.

21. Failure to notify insured that cancellation or non-renewal will be reported to Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, pursuant to Section 627.736(9)(b), F.S. Note that the policing of the various required notices is the responsibility of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles.

22. Failure to notify insureds of annual personal injury protection options including deductibles, pursuant to Section 627.739(2), F.S.

23. Failure to comply with preinspection of privately purchased private passenger automobiles for physical damage coverage for new business policies issued in counties with populations of 500,000 or more, pursuant to Section 627.744, F.S., and Rule 69O-167.004, F.A.C.
24. Failure to show on an auto policy not providing bodily injury liability and property damage liability that the policy does not comply with the wording required by Florida law, pursuant to Rules 69O-184.011 and 69O-184.012, F.A.C.
25. Failure to use imprint information on non-pay cancellation notice by premium finance company, pursuant to Section 627.848, F.S., and Rule 69O-196.001, F.A.C.
26. Failure to comply with rules for completion of underwriting for private passenger auto coverages, pursuant to Section 627.7282, F.S., and Rule 69O-167.002, F.A.C.
27. Failure to reduce collision rates 3.5% on policies effective 1/1/90 to reflect mandatory $10,000 property damage liability coverage or $30,000 when property damage liability and bodily injury liability are combined, pursuant to Rule 69O-175.005, F.A.C.
28. Misapplication: failure to follow filed rating plans, underwriting guidelines, or other required filings, pursuant to Sections 627.062, 627.0645, 627.0651, 627.091, 627.191, 627.640, 627.6745, and 627.6785, F.S.

(b) Those violations, willful and nonwillful, not subject to the permissible error ratio provisions of this rule include:

1. Violations of licensed agent law, life and health insurance, pursuant to Section 624.428, F.S.

2. Failure to show subjects of insurance in the policy declaration and including in part, claims conditions and limitations and failure to include prescribed policy contents, pursuant to Section 627.413, F.S.

3. Failure to provide required policy information to any other person with an insurable interest in the policy, pursuant to Section 627.421(2), F.S.

4. Failure to follow the equity dating statute and follow rule for processing additional premium due company, pursuant to Section 627.7282, F.S., and Rule 69O-167.001, F.A.C.
5. Applying deductible to a windshield loss, pursuant to Section 627.7288, F.S.

6. Failure to cancel policy on an insured’s request basis, when financed by a premium finance company, pursuant to Section 627.848(4), F.S.

7. Use of unfiled premium finance forms and charges and interest plans under in-house control, pursuant to Section 627.904, F.S.

8. Use of short rate rules that develop premium greater than 90% of pro rata unless filed and approved by the Office, pursuant to Section 627.062, F.S., and Rule 69O-170.010, F.A.C.
9. Failure of advertising material produced in quantity to bear an identifying form number or other identifying means, pursuant to Chapter 69O-150, F.A.C.
10. Failure to comply with the requirements for the placement of excess or rejected business, pursuant to Sections 626.793 and 626.837, F.S.

11. Deposits not in compliance with Sections 624.411, 624.412, 626.5091, 625.50, 625.51, 625.52, 625.53, 625.55, 625.56, 625.57, 625.58, F.S.

12. Exceeding limits on dividends to stockholders and policyholders, pursuant to Sections 628.371 and 628.381, F.S.

13. Failure to file with the Office any amendments to articles of incorporation or by-laws, pursuant to Sections 628.101, 628.111 and 628.221, F.S.

14. Deficient, inadequate or improper internal controls as established by NAIC guidelines in manuals adopted in Rule 69O-137.001, F.A.C.
15. Failure of the company to assure that the company is managed by not less than five (5) directors, pursuant to Section 628.231, F.S.

16. Failure to secure a fidelity bond in the recommended amount as established by NAIC guidelines in manuals adopted in Rule 69O-137.001, F.A.C.
Rulemaking Authority 624.308 FS. Law Implemented 624.11, 624.307(1), 624.418, 624.4211 FS. History–New 11-6-94, Formerly 4-142.011.
69O-142.012 NAIC Market Regulation Handbook Adopted.
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners Market Regulation Handbook 2023 is hereby adopted and incorporated by reference. The agency has determined that posting the incorporated material would be a violation of federal copyright law. The Market Regulation Handbook is available for public inspection during regular business hours at the Office of Insurance Regulation, Larson Building, 200 East Gaines Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0300, or at the Department of State, R.A. Gray Building, 500 South Bronough Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250. A copy of the Market Regulation Handbook may also be obtained from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1100 Walnut Street, Suite 1500, Kansas City, MO 64106-2197, Telephone (816)783-8500, website: http://www.naic.org. 
Rulemaking Authority 624.308(1), 624.316(1)(c) FS. Law Implemented 624.316 FS. History – New 2-18-24.
69O-142.015 Standardized Requirements Applicable to Insurers After Hurricanes or Natural Disasters.

This rule adopts standardized requirements that may be applied to insurers as a consequence of a hurricane or other natural disaster. The Office is authorized to issue an Order or Orders deemed necessary to protect the health, safety and welfare, activating the requirements herein, in whole or in part. An Order may be amended as deemed necessary to accommodate the particular circumstances of the specified hurricane or natural disaster. The following standardized provisions may be activated as provided herein:

(1) Claims Reporting Requirements.

(a) This subsection applies to all property and casualty contracts of insurance subject to regulation under the Florida Insurance Code including:

1. All policies referenced in Chapters 440, 624, 626, and 627, F.S.; and

2. Premium finance company contracts associated with property and casualty contracts.

References in this subsection herein to “policy” or “contract of insurance” includes all property and casualty contracts regulated under the Florida Insurance Code. References to “insurer” include all regulated entities issuing these contracts.

(b) All insurers having direct premiums written in Florida and authorized, approved or otherwise eligible to provide the coverages indicated below in subparagraphs (1)(b)1. and 2., shall report the requested information to the Office. The reporting shall be submitted with such frequency and for such areas as set forth in the Order. The applicable coverages are:

1. Those coverages as defined in Sections 627.4025(1) and 215.555(2)(c), F.S.

2. Other property coverages where loss is not specifically excluded in the policy’s outline of coverage such as:

a. Private Passenger Auto Physical Damage;
b. Commercial Auto Physical Damage;
c. Commercial Property, including Fire and Allied Lines;
d. Commercial Multiple Peril;
e. Farmowners Multiple Peril;
f. Ocean Marine;
g. Inland Marine;
h. Aircraft; and,
i. Boiler and Machinery.

(c)1. Insurers shall electronically submit the data required for each reporting event. Required data may include:

a. Policies in force;

b. Claims reported;

c. Open claims with payment;

d. Open claims without payment;

e. Claims closed with payment;

f. Claims closed without payment;

g. Number of open claims;

h. Percent of claims closed;

i. Paid loss excluding loss adjustment expense;

j. Paid allocated loss adjustment expense;

k. Case incurred loss excluding loss adjustment expense; and,

l. Case allocated loss adjustment expense.

2. All information shall be submitted electronically through http://www.floir.com/iportal.

(2) Grace Periods and Temporary Postponement of Cancellations or Non-renewals.
(a) This subsection applies to all property and casualty contracts of insurance subject to regulation under the Florida Insurance Code including:
1. All policies referenced in Chapters 440, 624, 626 and 627, F.S.; and
2. Premium finance company contracts.
References in this subsection herein to “policy” or “contract of insurance” includes all property and casualty contracts regulated under the Florida Insurance Code. References to “insurer” include all regulated entities issuing these contracts.  

(b) Reinsurance contracts are not subject to this rule, however, ceding insurers shall, within ten (10) days, notify the Office, of the cancellation or nonrenewal of any reinsurance contract reinsuring property risks located in the state. All filings shall be submitted electronically to http://www.floir.com/iportal.
(c) As to any policy provision, notice, correspondence, or law that imposes a time limit upon an insured to perform any act, including transmitting information or funds with respect to a contract of insurance, which act was to have been performed on or after the date specified in the Order of the Office, the time limit shall be extended to a date specified in the Order.
1. This extension of time shall not relieve a policyholder who has a claim resulting from the designated hurricane or natural disaster from compliance with their obligations to provide information and cooperate in the claim adjustment process relative to their property damage claim.
2. This extension of time shall also not apply to new policies effective on or after the date specified in the Order.
No interest, penalties, or other charges, shall accrue or be assessed, as the result of the extensions required herein. Interest that is owed pursuant to premium financing plans with premium finance companies or insurers or their affiliates may be assessed.

(d) During the dates specified in the Order, no insurer or other entity regulated under the Florida Insurance Code shall cancel or non-renew, or issue a notice of cancellation or nonrenewal of a policy or contract of insurance covering a property or risk in the referenced areas as specified in the Order, except at the written request or written concurrence of the policyholder.
(e) All notices of cancellation issued or mailed within ten (10) calendar days preceding the date specified in the Order and, affecting the referenced areas, shall be withdrawn and reissued to insureds on or after the date specified in the Order.

(f) A cancellation or nonrenewal may occur prior to the expiration date specified in the Order, at the written request or written concurrence of the policyholder.

(g) Except as provided in paragraphs (2)(d) and (e), with respect to a notice of cancellation or nonrenewal that, but for this rule, would have taken effect during the dates specified in the Order, such notice is not made invalid by this rule; however;
1. The insurer shall extend the coverage to and including the date specified in the Order, or a later date specified by the insurer; and
2. The premium for the extended term of coverage shall be the appropriate pro rata portion of the premium for the entire term of the policy.

(h) An insurer or other regulated entity that was unable to cancel or non-renew a policy due to the operation of this rule, may upon proper notice, cancel or non-renew such policy, effective on the date the policy would have otherwise been cancelled or non-renewed, in the event the insured has not filed a claim under the policy and not paid outstanding premium due.

(i) No policy shall be cancelled or non-renewed solely because of a claim resulting from a hurricane or natural disaster.

(j) An insurer’s offer of replacement coverage, that is voluntarily accepted by an insured or applicant in an affiliated company, or made pursuant to a depopulation program, assumption or other arrangement approved by the Office does not constitute a nonrenewal or cancellation for purposes of this rule.

(k) Any insurer who receives a claim from an insured owing premium may offset the premium due to the insurer or a premium finance company from any claim payment made under the policy.

(l) Nothing in this rule shall be construed to exempt or excuse an insured from liability for premiums otherwise due for actual coverage provided.

(m) This rule shall not apply to new policies effective on or after the initial activation date specified in the Order.

(n) If the contract of insurance was financed by a premium finance company for risks located in the referenced areas, the following provisions apply:

1. Premium finance companies may issue advisory 10-day notices of intent to cancel and cancellation notices in accordance with the terms of the premium finance agreement signed by the insured. In addition, each such advisory notice shall prominently contain the following statement:

“If you have been displaced through the loss of your home or damage to your home which has caused you to reside elsewhere on a temporary basis, or if you have temporarily become unemployed due to the destruction caused by Hurricane [name of hurricane or natural disaster], please contact this office at once.

Victims of Hurricane [name of hurricane or natural disaster] will receive an automatic extension of time to and including [date specified in the Order], to bring their accounts up to date and no late charges will be applied to any late payments received which were due on their accounts during the period of the dates specified in the Order.

Therefore, if you are a victim of Hurricane [name of hurricane or natural disaster], please contact us at once at the number provided at the bottom of this notice so that we may advise you of the status of your account.
If you decide that you no longer need or desire to keep the coverage provided by the insurance policy financed by your contract with us, please contact us at once so that we may instruct you on how to effect cancellation with your insurer.”

2. If a premium finance loan is in default at the end of the grace period, a premium finance company shall give proper notice by:

a. Issuing a 10 day notice of intent to cancel to the insured by the means provided under Section 627.848(1)(a)1., F.S., and applicable regulations; and,
b. If the insured does not bring their loan current within the time provided in the notice of intent, a premium finance company may mail the insurer a request for cancellation as provided in Section 627.848(1)(a)2., F.S.

3. Upon receipt of a request for cancellation from a premium finance company after the grace period specified in an Emergency Order expires, the insurer will process the cancellation in accordance with paragraph (2)(h).

4. Any insurer who is unable to cancel because it has received a claim under a policy for which it receives a notice of cancellation from a premium finance company will offset the balance owed the premium finance company, as disclosed in the notice of cancellation, from the first claim payments made under the policy.

5. No late charges shall be assessed for any insured who qualifies for protection under this rule.

(o) Subsection (2) of this rule, shall not apply to policies for the following kinds of insurance issued by authorized insurers that cover a business that is domiciled or maintains its primary place of business outside of Florida: Surety insurance as defined in Section 624.606, F.S.; Fidelity insurance as defined in Section 624.6065, F.S.; Marine insurance, wet marine and transportation insurance and inland marine insurance as defined in Section 624.607, F.S.; Title insurance as defined in Section 624.607, F.S.; Collateral Protection insurance as defined in Section 624.6085, F.S.; Workers’ Compensation insurance as defined in Section 624.605, F.S.; Casualty insurance as defined in Section 624.605, F.S., but limited to coverage of commercial risks other than residential or personal property; and property insurance as defined in Section 624.604, F.S., but limited to coverage of commercial risks other than residential or personal property. Additionally, this rule shall not apply to life insurance policies or annuity contracts that are owned by a person other than the insured or the annuitant or where the premium payer under such policy is a person other than the insured or annuitant and such owner or premium payer does not reside in the referenced areas.

(p) Any insurer that becomes impaired or insolvent due to a hurricane or natural disaster or the operation of subsequent rules and orders has a duty to report the resulting financial condition to the Office as soon as possible. Notwithstanding any other provisions contained herein, an insurer may file a petition pursuant to Section 120.542, F.S. if compliance with this rule may be reasonably expected to result in such insurer being subject to financial regulatory action levels by the Office.

(q) The provisions of this rule shall be liberally construed to effectuate the intent and purposes expressed therein and to afford maximum consumer protection.
(3) Grace Periods and Temporary Postponement of Cancellations or Non-renewals. 

(a) This subsection applies to all life and health contracts of insurance subject to regulation under the Florida Insurance Code including:

1. All policies referenced in Chapters 624, 626, 627, 636, 641, and 651, F.S.;

2. Contracts issued by Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements and Commercial Self-Insurance Trusts; and

3. Premium finance company contracts associated with life and health contracts.

References in this subsection to “policy” or “contract of insurance” includes all life or health agreements regulated under the Florida Insurance Code. References to “insurer” include all regulated entities issuing these agreements.  

(b) Any free look period in a variable life policy or variable annuity contract is not extended by this rule.

(c) As to any policy provision, notice, correspondence, or law which imposes a time limit upon an insured to perform any act or transmit information or funds with respect to a contract of insurance, which act was to have been performed on or after the date specified in the Order of the Office, the time limit shall be extended to the date specified in the Order, except that:

1. This extension of time shall not relieve an insured who has a claim during this period from compliance with any obligation to provide information and cooperate in the claim adjustment process relative to their claim. 

2. This extension of time shall not apply to new policies effective on or after the date specified in the Order. 

No interest, penalties, or other charges shall accrue or be assessed as the result of the extensions required herein. However, interest that is owed pursuant to premium financing plans with premium finance companies or insurers or their affiliates may be assessed.

(d) During the dates specified in the Order, no insurer or other entity regulated under the Florida Insurance Code shall cancel or non-renew a policy or contract of insurance or issue a notice of cancellation or nonrenewal on a contract of insurance covering a person in the referenced areas as specified in the Order, except at the written request or written concurrence of the policyholder.

(e) All notices of cancellation issued or mailed within ten (10) calendar days preceding the date specified in the Order, affecting a person in the specified areas, shall be withdrawn and reissued to insureds on or after the date specified in the Order.

(f) A cancellation or nonrenewal may occur prior to the expiration date specified in the Order, at the written request or written concurrence of the policyholder.  The application for and issuance of a replacement major medical health insurance policy which is subject to regulation by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-152, may be regarded by the insurer as a written request for cancellation of the current major medical insurance policy by the applicant/policyholder, provided the date of cancellation is not effectuated prior to the date of the effectuation of the replacement policy’s coverage.

(g) Except as provided in paragraphs (3)(e) and (f), with respect to a notice of cancellation or nonrenewal which, but for this rule, would have taken effect during the dates specified in the Order, such notice is not made invalid by this rule; however;

1. The insurer shall extend the coverage to and including the date specified in the Order, or a later date specified by the insurer; and

2. The premium for the extended term of coverage shall be the appropriate pro rata portion of the premium for the entire term of the policy.

(h) Retroactive cancellation due to non-payment of premium: 

1. For health policies or contracts, an insurer or other regulated entity that was unable to cancel or non-renew a policy due to the operation of this rule, may upon proper notice, cancel or non-renew such policy, effective on the date the policy would have otherwise been cancelled or non-renewed, in the event the insured has not paid outstanding premium due. For all other policies under this subsection, an insurer or other regulated entity that was unable to cancel or non-renew a policy due to the operation of this rule, may upon proper notice, cancel or non-renew such policy, effective on the date the policy would have otherwise been cancelled or non-renewed, in the event the insured has not paid the outstanding premium due. 

2. Insurers or Health Maintenance Organizations subject to the notice provisions of Sections 627.6645(5) and 641.3108(2), F.S., respectively, may issue notices of cancellation that comport with those sections that specify no cancellation shall take place prior to the date specified in the Order.

(i) No policy shall be cancelled or non-renewed solely because of a claim resulting from a hurricane or natural disaster.

(j) An insurer’s offer of replacement coverage, which is voluntarily accepted by an insured or made pursuant to other arrangement approved by the Office does not constitute a nonrenewal or cancellation for purposes of this rule. 

(k) Any insurer who receives a claim from an insured owing premium may offset the premium due to the insurer or a premium finance company from any claim payment made under the policy.

(l) Nothing in this rule shall be construed to exempt or excuse an insured from liability for premiums otherwise due for actual coverage provided.

(m) This rule shall not apply to new policies effective on or after the initial activation date specified in the Order.

(n) If the contract of insurance was financed by a premium finance company for persons located in the specified areas, the following provisions apply:

1. Premium finance companies may issue advisory 10-day notices of intent to cancel and cancellation notices in accordance with the terms of the premium finance agreement signed by the insured. In addition, each such advisory notice shall prominently contain the following statement:

“If you have been displaced through the loss of your home or damage to your home which has caused you to reside elsewhere on a temporary basis, or if you have temporarily become unemployed due to the destruction caused by Hurricane [name of hurricane or natural disaster], please contact this office at once.

Victims of Hurricane [name of hurricane or natural disaster] will receive an automatic extension of time to and including [date specified in the Order], to bring their accounts up to date and no late charges will be applied to any late payments received which were due on their accounts during the period of the dates specified in the Order.

Therefore, if you are a victim of Hurricane [name of hurricane or natural disaster], please contact us at once at the number provided at the bottom of this notice so that we may advise you of the status of your account.

If you decide that you no longer need or desire to keep the coverage provided by the insurance policy financed by your contract with us, please contact us at once so that we may instruct you on how to effect cancellation with your insurer.”

2. If a premium finance loan is in default at the end of the grace period, a premium finance company shall give proper notice by:

a. Issuing a 10 day notice of intent to cancel to the insured by the means provided under Section 627.848(1)(a)1., F.S., and applicable regulations; and,

b. If the insured does not bring their loan current within the time provided in the notice of intent, a premium finance company may mail the insurer a request for cancellation as provided in Section 627.848(1)(a)2., F.S.

3. Upon receipt of a request for cancellation from a premium finance company after the grace period specified in an Emergency Order expires, the insurer will process the cancellation in accordance with paragraph (3)(h).

4. Any insurer who is unable to cancel because it has received a claim under a policy for which it receives a notice of cancellation from a premium finance company will offset the balance owed the premium finance company, as disclosed in the notice of cancellation, from the first claim payments made under the policy.

5. No late charges shall be assessed for any insured who qualifies for protection under this rule.

(o) This rule shall not apply to life insurance policies or annuity contracts that are owned by a person other than the insured or the annuitant or where the premium payer under such policy is a person other than the insured or annuitant and such owner or premium payer does not reside in the referenced areas.

(p) Any insurer that becomes impaired or insolvent due to a hurricane or natural disaster or the operation of subsequent rules and orders has a duty to report the resulting financial condition to the Office as soon as possible. Notwithstanding any other provisions contained herein, an insurer may file a petition pursuant to Section 120.542, F.S. if compliance with this rule may be reasonably expected to result in such insurer being subject to financial regulatory action levels by the Office.

(q) The provisions of this rule shall be liberally construed to effectuate the intent and purposes expressed therein and to afford maximum consumer protection.

This subsection does not apply to major medical health insurance policies subject to regulation by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-152, and regulations adopted pursuant to those acts, to the extent this requirement would result in a violation of federal law. 

Rulemaking Authority 624.308, 627.7019 FS. Law Implemented 624.307(1), 624.319, 624.424, 627.7019 FS. History–New 6-12-07, Amended 7-30-17, 2-22-21.

69O-142.200 Military Sales Practices.

(1) The purpose of this regulation is to set forth standards to protect active duty service members of the United States Armed Forces from dishonest and predatory insurance sales practices by declaring certain identified practices to be false, misleading, deceptive or unfair.

(2) Scope – This regulation shall apply only to the solicitation or sale of any life insurance or annuity product by an insurer to an active duty service member of the United States Armed Forces.
(3) Exemptions – This regulation shall not apply to solicitations or sales involving:
(a) Credit insurance;
(b) Group life insurance or group annuities where there is no in-person, face-to-face solicitation of individuals by an insurance producer or where the contract or certificate does not include a side fund;

(c) An application to the existing insurer that issued the existing policy or contract when a contractual change or a conversion privilege is being exercised; or, when the existing policy or contract is being replaced by the same insurer pursuant to a program filed with and approved by the commissioner; or, when a term conversion privilege is exercised among corporate affiliates;

(d) Individual stand-alone health policies, including disability income policies;

(e) Contracts offered by Servicemembers’ Group Life Insurance (henceforth “SGLI”) or Veterans’ Group Life Insurance (henceforth “VGLI”), as authorized by 38 U.S.C. Section 1965 et seq.;
(f) Life insurance contracts offered through or by a non-profit military association, qualifying under Section 501(c)(23) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), and which are not underwritten by an insurer; or

(g) Contracts used to fund:
1. An employee pension or welfare benefit plan that is covered by the Employee Retirement and Income Security Act (ERISA),
2. A plan described by Sections 401(a), 401(k), 403(b), 408(k) or 408(p) of the IRC, as amended, if established or maintained by an employer;
3. A government or church plan defined in Section 414 of the IRC, a government or church welfare benefit plan, or a deferred compensation plan of a state or local government or tax exempt organization under Section 457 of the IRC;
4. A nonqualified deferred compensation arrangement established or maintained by an employer or plan sponsor;
5. Settlements of or assumptions of liabilities associated with personal injury litigation or any dispute or claim resolution process; or

6. Prearranged funeral contracts.

(h) Nothing herein shall be construed to abrogate the ability of nonprofit organizations (and/or other organizations) to educate members of the United States Armed Forces in accordance with Department of Defense DoD Instruction 1344.07 – PERSONAL COMMERCIAL SOLICITATION ON DoD INSTALLATIONS or successor directive.

(i) For purposes of this regulation, general advertisements, direct mail and internet marketing shall not constitute “solicitation.” Telephone marketing shall not constitute “solicitation” provided the caller explicitly and conspicuously discloses that the product concerned is life insurance and makes no statements that avoid a clear and unequivocal statement that life insurance is the subject matter of the solicitation. Provided however, nothing in this subsection shall be construed to exempt an insurer from this regulation in any in-person, face-to-face meeting established as a result of the “solicitation” exemptions identified in this subsection.

(4) Definitions:

(a) “Active Duty” means full-time duty in the active military service of the United States and includes members of the reserve component (National Guard and Reserve) while serving under published orders for active duty or full-time training or in a drill status in the National Guard or United States Armed Forces Reserve.

(b) “Department of Defense (DoD) Personnel” means all active duty service members and all civilian employees, including nonappropriated fund employees and special government employees, of the Department of Defense.

(c) “Door to Door” means a solicitation or sales method whereby an insurance producer proceeds randomly or selectively from household to household without prior specific appointment.

(d) “General Advertisement” means an advertisement having as its sole purpose the promotion of the reader’s or viewer’s interest in the concept of insurance, or the promotion of the insurer or the insurance producer.
(e) “Insurer” means an insurance company required to be licensed under the laws of this state to provide life insurance products, including annuities.

(f) “Insurance producer” means a person required to be licensed under the laws of this state to sell, solicit or negotiate life insurance, including annuities.

(g) “Known” or “Knowingly” means, depending on its use herein, the insurance producer or insurer had actual awareness, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, at the time of the act or practice complained of, that the person solicited is a service member.

(h) “Life Insurance” means insurance coverage on human lives including benefits of endowment and annuities, and may include benefits in the event of death or dismemberment by accident and benefits for disability income and unless otherwise specifically excluded, includes individually issued annuities.

(i) “Military Installation” means any federally owned, leased, or operated base, reservation, post, camp, building, or other facility to which service members are assigned for duty, including barracks, transient housing, and family quarters.
(j) “MyPay” is a Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) web-based system that enables service members to process certain discretionary pay transactions or provide updates to personal information data elements without using paper forms.
(k) “Service Member” means any active duty officer (commissioned and warrant) or enlisted member of the United States Armed Forces.
(l) “Side Fund” means a fund or reserve that is part of or otherwise attached to a life insurance policy (excluding individually issued annuities) by rider, endorsement or other mechanism which accumulates premium or deposits with interest or by other means. The term does not include:

1. Accumulated value or cash value or secondary guarantees provided by a universal life policy;
2. Cash values provided by a whole life policy which are subject to standard nonforfeiture law for life insurance; or

3. A premium deposit fund which:

a. Contains only premiums paid in advance which accumulate at interest;
b. Imposes no penalty for withdrawal;
c. Does not permit funding beyond future required premiums;
d. Is not marketed or intended as an investment; and,
e. Does not carry a commission, either paid or calculated.

(m) “Specific Appointment” means a prearranged appointment agreed upon by both parties and definite as to place and time.

(n) “United States Armed Forces” means all components of the Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard.
(5) The following acts or practices when committed on a military installation by an insurer with respect to the in-person, face-to-face solicitation of life insurance are declared to be unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Sections 626.9541(1)(a), (b), (d), (e), (g), (k), (l), F.S.:

(a) Knowingly soliciting the purchase of any life insurance product “door to door” or without first establishing a specific appointment for each meeting with the prospective purchaser.
(b) Soliciting service members in a group or “mass” audience or in a “captive” audience where attendance is not voluntary.

(c) Knowingly making appointments with or soliciting service members during their normally scheduled duty hours.

(d) Making appointments with or soliciting service members in barracks, day rooms, unit areas, or transient personnel housing or other areas where the installation commander has prohibited solicitation.

(e) Soliciting the sale of life insurance without first obtaining permission from the installation commander or the commander’s designee.
(f) Posting unauthorized bulletins, notices or advertisements.
(g) Failing to present DD Form 2885, Personal Commercial Solicitation Evaluation, to service members solicited or encouraging service members solicited not to complete or submit a DD Form 2885.
(h) Knowingly accepting an application for life insurance or issuing a policy of life insurance on the life of an enlisted member of the United States Armed Forces without first obtaining for the insurer’s files a completed copy of any required form which confirms that the applicant has received counseling or fulfilled any other similar requirement for the sale of life insurance established by regulations, directives or rules of the DoD or any branch of the Armed Forces.

(i) Using DoD personnel, directly or indirectly, as a representative or agent in any official or business capacity with or without compensation with respect to the solicitation or sale of life insurance to service members.
(j) Using an insurance producer to participate in any United States Armed Forces sponsored education or orientation program.

(6) The following acts or practices by an insurer constitute corrupt practices, improper influences or inducements and are declared to be unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Sections 626.9541(1)(a), (b), (d), (e), (g), (k), (l), F.S., regardless of location:

(a) Submitting, processing or assisting in the submission or processing of any allotment form or similar device used by the United States Armed Forces to direct a service member’s pay to a third party for the purchase of life insurance. The foregoing includes, but is not limited to, using or assisting in using a service member’s “MyPay” account or other similar internet or electronic medium for such purposes. This subsection does not prohibit assisting a service member by providing insurer or premium information necessary to complete any allotment form.

(b) Knowingly receiving funds from a service member for the payment of premium from a depository institution with which the service member has no formal banking relationship. For purposes of this section, a formal banking relationship is established when the depository institution:

1. Provides the service member a deposit agreement and periodic statements and makes the disclosures required by the Truth in Savings Act, 12 U.S.C. §4301 et seq. and the regulations promulgated thereunder; and,
2. Permits the service member to make deposits and withdrawals unrelated to the payment or processing of insurance premiums.

(c) Employing any device or method or entering into any agreement whereby funds received from a service member by allotment for the payment of insurance premiums are identified on the service member’s Leave and Earnings Statement or equivalent or successor form as “Savings” or “Checking” and where the service member has no formal banking relationship as defined in paragraph (6)(b).

(d) Entering into any agreement with a depository institution for the purpose of receiving funds from a service member whereby the depository institution, with or without compensation, agrees to accept direct deposits from a service member with whom it has no formal banking relationship.

(e) Using DoD personnel, directly or indirectly, as a representative or agent in any official or unofficial capacity with or without compensation with respect to the solicitation or sale of life insurance to service members, or to the family members of such personnel.
(f) Offering or giving anything of value, directly or indirectly, to DoD personnel to procure their assistance in encouraging, assisting or facilitating the solicitation or sale of life insurance to another service member.
(g) Knowingly offering or giving anything of value to a service member for his or her attendance to any event where an application for life insurance is solicited.
(h) Advising a service member to change his or her income tax withholding or State of legal residence for the sole purpose of increasing disposable income to purchase life insurance.
(i)1. Making any representation, or using any device, title, descriptive name or identifier that has the tendency or capacity to confuse or mislead a service member into believing that the insurer, insurance producer or product offered is affiliated, connected or associated with, endorsed, sponsored, sanctioned or recommended by the U.S. Government, the United States Armed Forces, or any state or federal agency or government entity. Examples of prohibited insurance producer titles include, but are not limited to, “Battalion Insurance Counselor,” “Unit Insurance Advisor,” “Servicemen’s Group Life Insurance Conversion Consultant,” or “Veteran’s Benefits Counselor.”
2. Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit a person from using a professional designation awarded after the successful completion of a course of instruction in the business of insurance by an accredited institution of higher learning. Such designations include, but are not limited to, Chartered Life Underwriter (CLU), Chartered Financial Consultant (ChFC), Certified Financial Planner (CFP), Master of Science In Financial Services (MSFS), or Masters of Science Financial Planning (MS).
(j) Soliciting the purchase of any life insurance product through the use of or in conjunction with any third party organization that promotes the welfare of or assists members of the United States Armed Forces in a manner that has the tendency or capacity to confuse or mislead a service member into believing that either the insurer, insurance producer or insurance product is affiliated, connected or associated with, endorsed, sponsored, sanctioned or recommended by the U.S. Government, or the United States Armed Forces.

(k) Using or describing the credited interest rate on a life insurance policy in a manner that implies that the credited interest rate is a net return on premium paid.

(l) Excluding individually issued annuities, misrepresenting the mortality costs of a life insurance product, including stating or implying that the product “costs nothing” or is “free.”

(m) Making any representation regarding the availability, suitability, amount, cost, exclusions or limitations to coverage provided to a service member or dependents by SGLI or VGLI, which is false, misleading or deceptive.

(n) Making any representation regarding conversion requirements, including the costs of coverage, or exclusions or limitations to coverage of SGLI or VGLI to private insurers which is false, misleading or deceptive.

(o) Suggesting, recommending or encouraging a service member to cancel or terminate his or her SGLI policy or issuing a life insurance policy which replaces an existing SGLI policy unless the replacement shall take effect upon or after the service member’s separation from the United States Armed Forces.

(p) Deploying, using or contracting for any lead generating materials designed exclusively for use with service members that do not clearly and conspicuously disclose that the recipient will be contacted by an insurance producer, if that is the case, for the purpose of soliciting the purchase of life insurance.
(q) Failing to disclose that a solicitation for the sale of life insurance will be made when establishing a specific appointment for an in-person, face-to-face meeting with a prospective purchaser.

(r) Excluding individually issued annuities, failing to clearly and conspicuously disclose the fact that the product being sold is life insurance.
(s) Failing to make, at the time of sale or offer to an individual known to be a service member, the written disclosures required by Section 10 of the “Military Personnel Financial Services Protection Act,” Pub. L. No. 109-290, p.16.

(t) Excluding individually issued annuities, when the sale is conducted in-person face-to-face with an individual known to be a service member, failing to provide the applicant at the time the application is taken:

1. An explanation of any free look period with instructions on how to cancel if a policy is issued; and,
2. Either a copy of the application or a written disclosure. The copy of the application or the written disclosure shall clearly and concisely set out the type of life insurance, the death benefit applied for and its expected first year cost. A basic illustration that meets the requirements of Section 626.99, F.S., shall be deemed sufficient to meet this requirement for a written disclosure.

(u) Excluding individually issued annuities, recommending the purchase of any life insurance product which includes a side fund to a service member unless the insurer has reasonable grounds for believing that the life insurance death benefit, standing alone, is suitable.
(v) Offering for sale or selling a life insurance product which includes a side fund to a service member who is currently enrolled in SGLI, is presumed unsuitable unless, after the completion of a needs assessment, the insurer demonstrates that the applicant’s SGLI death benefit, together with any other military survivor benefits, savings and investments, survivor income, and other life insurance are insufficient to meet the applicant’s insurable needs for life insurance.

1. “Insurable needs” are the risks associated with premature death taking into consideration the financial obligations and immediate and future cash needs of the applicant’s estate and/or survivors or dependents.

2. “Other military survivor benefits” include, but are not limited to: the Death Gratuity, Funeral Reimbursement, Transition Assistance, Survivor and Dependents’ Educational Assistance, Dependency and Indemnity Compensation, TRICARE Healthcare benefits, Survivor Housing Benefits and Allowances, Federal Income Tax Forgiveness, and Social Security Survivor Benefits.

(w) Excluding individually issued annuities, offering for sale or selling any life insurance contract which includes a side fund:

1. Unless interest credited accrues from the date of deposit to the date of withdrawal and permits withdrawals without limit or penalty,
2. Unless the applicant has been provided with a schedule of effective rates of return based upon cash flows of the combined product. For this disclosure, the effective rate of return will consider all premiums and cash contributions made by the policyholder and all cash accumulations and cash surrender values available to the policyholder in addition to life insurance coverage. This schedule will be provided for at least each policy year from one (1) to ten (10) and for every fifth policy year thereafter ending at age 100, policy maturity or final expiration; and,
3. Which by default diverts or transfers funds accumulated in the side fund to pay, reduce or offset any premiums due.
(x) Excluding individually issued annuities, offering for sale or selling any life insurance contract which after considering all policy benefits, including but not limited to endowment, return of premium or persistency, does not comply with standard nonforfeiture law for life insurance.
(y) Selling any life insurance product to an individual known to be a service member that excludes coverage if the insured’s death is related to war, declared or undeclared, or any act related to military service except for an accidental death coverage, e.g., double indemnity, which may be excluded.
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